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[1] The Commission des droits de la personne et des droits de la jeunesse (the “Commission”), acting on behalf of Mr. Davids Mensah (the “complainant”), claims moral and punitive damages from the Ville de Montréal and Officers Martin Robidoux and Jean-Michel Fournier following a police intervention, which, it alleges, constituted racial profiling.

[2] The Commission submits that the intervention of Officers Robidoux and Fournier violated the complainant’s right to the safeguard of his dignity and to his personal security, inviolability and freedom and to his right to protection against abusive searches, without distinction or exclusion based on race, colour or age, thereby violating sections 1, 4, 10 and 24.1 of the Charter of human rights and freedoms
 (the “Charter”).
[3] The defendants deny any form of racial profiling or discrimination. They submit that the impugned police intervention was at first carried out lawfully and legitimately pursuant to the Highway Safety Code
 (the “H.S.C.”). It subsequently required the use of justified force that was proportionate to Mr. Mensah’s aggressive attitude and conduct, without regard to his race, age or any other unlawful consideration.
I.  
THE ISSUES
1. During their June 4, 2011, intervention, did Officers Robidoux and Fournier engage in conduct towards the complainant that constituted discrimination by racial profiling? 
2. If so, did the complainant suffer injury justifying the award of moral damages?
3. Does the conduct of Officers Robidoux and Fournier warrant an order to pay punitive damages?
II.  
BACKGROUND
[4] On June 4, 2011, Officers Robidoux and Fournier intercepted the complainant who was driving an automobile on Henri-Bourassa Boulevard in Montreal-North.

[5] Verifications in the complainant’s driving record revealed irregularities under the H.S.C. The complainant was informed of this and told to exit his vehicle. He protested. The situation quickly deteriorated. The police officers applied force and arrested him. They handcuffed, searched, and put him in the patrol car.

[6] After the incident, the complainant was released, and his vehicle was towed. The police officers gave him two statements of offence and a document entitled “Recognizance entered into before a peace officer” requiring him to appear before the fine collector of the Montreal Municipal Court.

A.  
The plaintiff's evidence
[7] The respondent is a 23-year-old man of Ghanaian origin.
[8] In 2011, he was studying police technology at Algonquin College in Ottawa. He would return to Montreal on the weekends to work as a delivery person for a restaurant called Miramar to pay for his studies and meet the needs of his family.

[9] On June 4, 2011, at approximately 4 a.m., the complainant left the parking lot of a motel where he had made a delivery. He turned westbound onto Henri-Bourassa Boulevard and stopped at the red right at the intersection with Désy Avenue.

[10] The complainant noticed a patrol car of the Service de police de la Ville de Montréal (SPVM) to his left. His eyes met those of the police officer in the passenger seat. Subsequently, he noticed that a brief discussion took place between the driver and the passenger.

[11] When the light turned green, the complainant started to drive. The police officers followed him for a few moments and then activated their flashing lights. The complainant stopped his vehicle on the right side of the road; the patrol car followed and parked behind him.

[12] The police officers approached the vehicle, one on each side. At the request of one of the officers, the complainant handed over his driver's licence, the registration certificate for the vehicle, which belongs to his spouse, and the proof of insurance.

[13] The police officers returned to the patrol car to conduct certain verifications. An officer returned to see the complainant. He informed him that [translation] “everything is fine”,
 but told him to exit the vehicle. The complainant obeyed and followed him calmly to the rear of his vehicle.

[14] The complainant was informed that he had two driver's licences, one issued by the Société de l’assurance automobile du Québec (the “SAAQ”) and the other from the Province of Ontario.

[15] Calmly, the complainant replied that he had only one driver's licence, issued in Ontario. To obtain it, he remitted his SAAQ driver's licence to a government employee in Ontario.

[16] One of the officers asked him if he was in possession of a sharp object or any drugs. The complainant answered that he was not. The same officer ordered him to turn around. The complainant cooperated.
[17] Suddenly, the officers arrested him. The complainant was grabbed roughly by the arm and neck. He was brutally shoved onto the back of his vehicle, with his face against the windshield, and his hands were cuffed behind his back.

[18] Three or four times, an officer asked him [translation] “where are the drugs?”
 The complainant denied possessing any drugs. He added that as a police technology student, it was important to him not to ever consume any.

[19] The complainant was searched and placed on the back seat of the patrol car. He was still unaware of the reasons for his arrest and was not informed of his rights.

[20] Officer Robidoux conducted a complete search of the complainant’s vehicle.

[21] During that time, Officer Fournier kept the complainant in his custody. He warned him that his driver's licence was under sanction, in this case a suspension for an unpaid fine of $400. The complainant said that he did not have that amount on him.

[22] The complainant asked to telephone his spouse or employer so that he could pay the amount owing. Officer Fournier refused, in an arrogant tone, and accused the complainant of being disrespectful. He went further, stating that he would do everything in his power to prevent the complainant from becoming a police officer.

[23] Officer Robidoux re-entered the patrol car. Some discussion followed, and then Officer Fournier gave the complainant a document to sign, requiring him to appear on July 4, 2011, before the fine collector of the Montreal Municipal Court.

[24] The police officers released the complainant. They allowed him to take the two child seats and the proceeds for his deliveries before his vehicle was towed.

[25] Officer Fournier gave the complainant two statements of offence, for a total amount of $1,320, and said [translation] “Come let me explain your nice ticket”.
 He repeated that he would prevent the complainant from achieving his goal of becoming a police officer.

[26] The complainant was shocked and told the police officers that he would take legal action against them for everything he had just gone through. Officer Fournier replied that all he would have to do is claim that they were false accusations.

[27] The complainant asked to be taken home in the patrol car. The officers refused and left the scene.
[28] The complainant contacted his employer. An employee was dispatched to bring him back to the restaurant. During the ride, the complainant was in shock and could not stop crying. The complainant’s spouse came to pick him up. The complainant was still shaken and confused. Sobbing, he was unable to tell her what had happened.

[29] In the days that followed, the complainant remained inside his home with the lights off and the blinds closed. He did not eat or sleep, and he was apathetic.

[30] On June 9, 2011, the complainant consulted a physician regarding pain in his neck and insomnia.

[31] A few days later, he filed a police ethics complaint with the Commission.

[32] The complainant continued to study police technology but questioned his decision to become a police officer. He was disgusted by the intervention of Officers Fournier and Robidoux and disillusioned with their work. The idea of having to one day work in collaboration with such people was disheartening.

[33] In April 2012, after three semesters, the complainant dropped out of Algonquin College.

[34] The complainant states that he often relives the incident that took place on June 4, 2011. He is convinced that he was pulled over because of the colour of his skin. It is clear to him that the reason he was subsequently brutally arrested and questioned about drugs was that the police officers assumed, once again because of the colour of his skin, that he must be a drug dealer. 

[35] Traumatized, he no longer drives a vehicle in Quebec, or does so only rarely.

[36] The complainant claims to have suffered deeply from the violation of his dignity and that his psychological equilibrium was affected. At the hearing, he said “They took my pride away. It took me five years … to be where I wanna be. And it took them a couple of seconds to take it away from me.”

B.  
The defence’s evidence
[37] On June 4, 2011, Police Officers Robidoux and Fournier of the SPVM, assigned to neighbourhood police station 39 (PDQ-39) in Montreal-North, were on night patrol.  Officer Robidoux was the driver, and Officer Fournier was the passenger.

[38] At approximately 4 a.m., they noticed a vehicle with a burned out headlight on the right side leave the parking lot of a motel, drive onto Henri-Bourassa Boulevard ahead of them, heading west, and then stop at the red light at the intersection with Désy Avenue.

[39] The police officers also noticed that the vehicle did not have a licence plate. Only Officer Fournier noticed the temporary registration certificate (transit) on the rear window of the vehicle.

[40] Officer Robidoux noted, however, that he could not yet see anything inside the vehicle but [translation] “deduced” that there had to be a [translation] “driver”.
[41] The officers decided to stop the complainant’s vehicle because of the burned out headlight and to check its registration. They activated their flashing lights, and the complainant stopped his vehicle in front of them.

[42] The officers approached the complainant, Officer Robidoux on the driver side and Officer Fournier, further back, on the passenger side. Officer Robidoux asked to see the driver's licence and the vehicle’s registration and proof of insurance. Meanwhile, Officer Fournier conducted a summary inspection of the vehicle’s interior with his flashlight and then went to the rear to examine the transit.

[43] The two officers went back to the patrol car to verify the validity of the documents remitted by the complainant. An initial search using the computer in the patrol car revealed that they were valid.

[44] However, because the driver's licence provided by the complainant was issued outside Quebec, Officer Fournier conducted a search with the Quebec Police Intelligence Centre (QPIC), as he always does in such cases.

[45] The search revealed that the complainant also had a driver's licence from the SAAQ, but had been sanctioned for an unpaid fine. In addition, because of the fine, the complainant was subject to a warrant for apprehension to appear before the fine collector of the Montreal Municipal Court (warrant for fine collection).

[46] Officer Robidoux returned to see the complainant while Officer Fournier waited outside, between the two vehicles. Officer Robidoux asked the complainant to exit his vehicle and follow him towards his colleague. The complainant cooperated.
[47] Officer Fournier informed the complainant of the offences alleged against him, one with respect to driving a vehicle while holding two driver's licences, and another in regard to driving a vehicle while his driver's licence was subject to sanction. He added that consequently, the vehicle would be seized and towed. He told the complainant about the warrant for fine collection issued against him for an unpaid fine.

[48] Le complainant vigorously disputed the police officers’ allegation. He lost his temper and raised his voice to the point of yelling. He gesticulated with closed fists. He appeared threatening.

[49] Because of the complainant’s aggressiveness, the officers arrested him to ensure their safety. The complainant resisted. The police officers applied force by pushing him onto the back of his vehicle to subdue and handcuff him. They told him he was under arrest pursuant to the warrant for fine collection and informed him of his rights upon arrest.

[50] The complainant nevertheless remained agitated. He said he was studying police technology and that if he was arrested or his vehicle was seized, he would file a complaint against the officers, alleging that he had been beaten and that his head had been slammed against the rear window of the vehicle.

[51] Officer Robidoux objected to the complainant’s remarks and informed him that he would note them in his report, which could harm his chances of employment with a police force.

[52] Officer Fournier prepared to conduct a search incidental to the complainant’s arrest while they were still between the two vehicles. Officer Fournier asked the complainant if he had any sharp or cutting objects on him and if he was in possession of [translation] “anything illegal”.
 The complainant responded by denying the offences for which he was initially stopped. The question was repeated. The complainant repeated his response.
[53] The summary search of the complainant was negative.

[54] Le complainant was led to the rear door of the patrol car. He unsuccessfully resisted being moved by stiffening his body and trying to stop in place. He was angry. His attitude was aggressive, but he did not take any offensive action.
[55] Officer Fournier prepared to conduct a second summary search of the complainant. He asked him the same question with a minor difference, asking him this time if he was in possession of any drugs. The complainant was offended by the question, but denied being in possession of any drugs.
[56] The second summary search of the complainant was also negative.
[57] The complainant got in the patrol car. Officer Fournier heard him say that he would file a complaint against them for beating him. The complainant repeated his remarks a few moments later.
[58] While Officer Robidoux conducted the inventory search of the complainant’s vehicle, Officer Fournier asked him if he could pay the $400 fine. The complainant was withdrawn and did not really answer. The officer inferred that the complainant did not have that amount because he later signed the recognizance to appear before the City of Montreal’s fine collector.

[59] Officer Robidoux completed the inventory search of the vehicle and returned to the patrol car. The complainant was given various options for paying the fine, including recourse to third parties.

[60] Once the documents concerning the police intervention had been filled out, the officers released the complainant and allowed him to get his personal belongings and the two child seats before his vehicle was towed.

[61] Officer Fournier subsequently gave the complainant the tickets for the two offences in question, the minutes of seizure of the vehicle and the recognizance to appear before the fine collector. The complainant was not given a ticket for the burned out headlight, however, because he was not the owner of the vehicle.

[62] Les police officers then left the scene, leaving the complainant on site.

III.  
THE APPLICABLE LAW
[63] The following provisions of the Charter are applicable to this dispute:
1. Every human being has a right to life, and to personal security, inviolability and freedom. …

…

4. Every person has a right to the safeguard of his dignity, honour and reputation.
…

10. Every person has a right to full and equal recognition and exercise of his human rights and freedoms, without distinction, exclusion or preference based on race, colour, sex, gender identity or expression, pregnancy, sexual orientation, civil status, age except as provided by law, religion, political convictions, language, ethnic or national origin, social condition, a handicap or the use of any means to palliate a handicap. 

Discrimination exists where such a distinction, exclusion or preference has the effect of nullifying or impairing such right.
…

24.1 No one may be subjected to unreasonable search or seizure.
[64] The Commission submits that the complainant was a victim of discrimination by racial profiling. What is racial profiling, and what evidence is required?

A.  
Racial profiling
[65] In Bombardier,
 the Supreme Court repeated the definition of racial profiling proposed by the Commission:

Racial profiling is any action taken by one or more people in authority with respect to a person or group of persons, for reasons of safety, security or public order, that is based on actual or presumed membership in a group defined by race, colour, ethnic or national origin or religion, without factual grounds or reasonable suspicion, that results in the person or group being exposed to differential treatment or scrutiny.
Racial profiling includes any action by a person in a situation of authority who applies a measure in a disproportionate way to certain segments of the population on the basis, in particular, of their racial, ethnic, national or religious background, whether actual or presumed.

[66] It is recognized that discrimination is an evolving concept and that racial profiling is one of the prohibited forms of discrimination under the Charter.

[67] In this case, the Commission’s theory is that the complainant was the victim of racial profiling based on the colour of his skin and his young age.

B.  
Evidence of discrimination by racial profiling
[68] In Rezko,
 the Court stated that evidence of discrimination by racial profiling must include the following elements:

[translation]

[177] The specialized human rights tribunals have set out the specific elements that a plaintiff must demonstrate, more particularly, in order to establish racial profiling on a balance of probabilities:
(1) he or she is (or is perceived as) a member of a group that is characterized on the basis of a prohibited ground of discrimination;

(2) while exercising a right protected by law, he or she was subjected to differential or unusual treatment by a person in authority;

(3) a prohibited ground of discrimination was one of the factors that led the person in authority to apply the treatment in question.

[69] The Court also noted that evidence of differential treatment experienced by an individual [translation] “requires asking whether the person in authority would have acted differently if the plaintiff had not been a member, of a presumed member, or a group protected by the Charter”.

[70] To that end, the factual and circumstantial evidence must be analyzed [translation] “in order to determine whether improper behaviour such as the police officer’s lack of courtesy or his intransigence allows the finding of differential or unusual treatment as compared with usual practices in similar circumstances.”
 Among the other measures that may be regarded as entailing differential or unusual treatment, the Court listed [translation] “interventions (prosecution, arrest, detainment, etc.) conducted without reasonable grounds or conducted in a manner that is excessive in the circumstances”.

[71] Mtre Michèle Turenne, in an article published in 2009, explains that certain types of behaviour may be indicative of racial profiling. In particular, she notes that inappropriate conduct by persons in authority, such as [translation] “intransigent, suspicious or harassing conduct, discriminatory remarks … questions that are inappropriate or asked without valid reason … may demonstrate or corroborate the discriminatory nature of an intervention”.

[72] She adds that [translation] “unusual decisions that differ from normal practices by officers in positions of authority, such as an abuse of right or power, exhaustive searches or investigations, having regard for the circumstances … may demonstrate differential treatment”.

[73] According to the Supreme Court in Bombardier,
 evidence of discrimination entails two steps.

[74] First, s. 10 of the Charter requires that the plaintiff prove three elements:
 
4. a “distinction, exclusion or preference”,
5. based on one of the grounds listed in the first paragraph of s. 10, and
6. which has the effect of nullifying or impairing the right to full and equal recognition and exercise of a human right or freedom.

[75] If these three elements are established, there is prima facie discrimination. This is the first step of the analysis.
[76] The expression “prima facie” does not alter the applicable standard of proof, which remains the balance of probabilities set out in the Civil Code of Québec.
[77] The plaintiff has the burden of showing that there is a connection between a prohibited ground of discrimination and the distinction, exclusion or preference. However, the evidence must simply establish that the ground in question was a factor in the decision.
 It is thus sufficient to show that the prohibited ground contributed to the prejudicial treatment. This is a question of fact that should be resolved by the Tribunal.
[78] Proof of intention is not necessary to conclude that there was discrimination; discriminatory acts or omissions may involve multiple factors or be unconscious.

[79] Proof of the three elements on a balance of probabilities will be sufficient for the Tribunal to find that section 10 of the Charter has been violated, unless the defendant presents evidence to refute the allegation or puts forward a defence justifying the discrimination, or both.

[80] At the second step, it will be open to the defendant to try to refute the allegations or justify his or her conduct in light of the Charter. 

[81] To refute prima facie evidence of discrimination by racial profiling, the defendant must successively convince the Tribunal on a balance of probabilities that each of his or her interventions:

1.  
was based on reasonable grounds;

2.  
was not influenced by any of the prohibited grounds of discrimination;

3. 
did not constitute differential or unusual treatment.

[82] If the defendant fails to do so, discrimination will then be found to have occurred.
 
IV.  
ANALYSIS
	ISSUE 1:
	During their June 4, 2011, intervention, did Officers Robidoux and Fournier engage in conduct towards the complainant constituting discrimination by racial profiling? 


[83] The complainant’s version conflicts with the versions of Officers Robidoux and Fournier. These versions are irreconcilable in several respects, some of which are crucial, while others concern elements that are accessory to their accounts.

[84] Consequently, the Tribunal must assess the credibility and reliability of the witnesses heard to draw findings of fact that will form the basis of the analysis of the legal issues under the Charter.

A. The rules applicable to the assessment of witness credibility
[85] At the outset, the Supreme Court reminds us that “[a]ssessing credibility is not a science”.

[86] It is important to distinguish the notion of credibility, which refers to the a witness’s sincerity and honesty, from the notion of reliability, which deals rather with the value of the witness’s testimony and what makes it trustworthy. In J.R. c. R.,
 the Court of Appeal stated the following:

[49] As the appellant submits, the concepts of reliability and credibility are distinct. Reliability refers to the value of a witness’s statement, while credibility refers to the person. My colleague the Honourable Judge François Doyon clearly explains the difference between these concepts:

 Credibility refers to the person and his or her characteristics, such as honesty, that manifest themselves in his or her behaviour. We therefore speak of the credibility of the witness.

Reliability, on the other hand, refers to the value of the witness’s account. We therefore speak of the reliability of a witness’s testimony, or in other words, trustworthy testimony.

Thus, it is recognized that credible witnesses can honestly believe that their version of events is the truth when it is not, simply because they are in error; therefore, the witness’s credibility does not necessarily render his or her account reliable.

(Citation omitted.)
[87] In Pointejour Salomon v. R.,
 the Court of Appeal proposed a method for resolving contradictory versions by analyzing them from both these perspectives, but favouring reliability which places more focus on logic and objectivity.

[88] The Tribunal must consider all the intrinsic and extrinsic elements of the testimony heard and any contradictions therein, their corroboration and their [translation] “compatibility with all the circumstances and the probabilities revealed by the evidence”.

[89] Certain characteristics of testimony depend on the witness’s manner of testifying, his or her attitude, powers of observation and ability to recall the events.

[90] Others appear from the witness’s remarks, nuances and hesitations, the care taken by the witness to answer questions honestly and completely, any contradictions in the witness’s testimony, any contradictions or omissions in relation to the witness’s prior statements and the evidence as a whole.

[91] Finally, it is worth reiterating the well-established principle according to which a court may believe a witness’s testimony in whole, in part, or not at all.

B.  
The social context
[92] Evidence of racial profiling is rarely established directly. It is usually inferred from all the circumstances revealed by the evidence, except in the very unlikely case of an admission.

[93] Consequently, the social context within which the facts of the dispute arise is useful and relevant to fully understand their meaning and assess their scope.

[94] However, the social context may only be used as a background. On its own, it can never constitute prima facie evidence that a discriminatory act was committed. A tangible connection must be established between the circumstantial evidence of discrimination and the impugned decision or conduct.

[95] While evidence of the social context may be necessary to the retrospective analysis of Officer Fournier’s and Officer Robidoux’s intervention on June 4, 2011, the resolution of this dispute requires the Tribunal, first and foremost, to determine whether the officers’ conduct constituted discrimination by racial profiling against the complainant.
[96] The Commission presented evidence of an extremely tense social context between the population of the borough of Montreal-North and the police officers of PDQ-39 at that time, which was exacerbated by the death of Fredy Villanueva, who was shot by a police officer in 2008.

[97] In this regard, the parties filed in the record an excerpt from the investigation report of André Perreault, part-time coroner, on the causes and circumstances of the death of Fredy Villanueva in Montreal on August 9, 2008 (the Perreault Report),
 which establishes this background.

[98] In addition, the courts may take judicial notice of the fact that there is racial prejudice in Canadian society. In R. v. S. (R.D.),
 L’Heureux-Dubé and McLachlin JJ. stated:

[46] …The reasonable person must be taken to be aware of the history of discrimination faced by disadvantaged groups in Canadian society protected by the Charter ’s equality provisions. These are matters of which judicial notice may be taken. In Parks … Doherty J.A., did just this, stating:

Racism, and in particular anti-black racism, is a part of our community’s psyche. A significant segment of our community holds overtly racist views. A much larger segment subconsciously operates on the basis of negative racial stereotypes. Furthermore, our institutions, including the criminal justice system, reflect and perpetuate those negative stereotypes.

(Citation omitted)

[99] Confirming this statement in R. v. Grant,
 Binnie J. added:

[154] A growing body of evidence and opinion suggests that visible minorities and marginalized individuals are at particular risk from unjustified “low visibility” police interventions in their lives … The appellant, Mr. Grant, is black. Courts cannot presume to be colour-blind in these situations.

[100] Once again, on their own, the social context or judicial notice can never establish that there was discrimination in a given situation.

C.  
The complainant’s testimony
[101] The complainant was emotional when he described how the events of June 4, 2011, unfolded. He cried silently several times, discretely wiping away his tears while continuing his account.

[102] The complainant is convinced that he was the victim of racial profiling. Despite the years that have passed, the wounds still seems fresh.

[103] However, the Tribunal cannot simply take a leap of faith and adopt the complainant’s conviction, as deep as it is, to resolve the dispute. A thorough assessment of the evidence is required pursuant to the considerations discussed above.

1.  
The complainant’s poor memory 
[104] While the emotional charge is the first striking element of the complainant’s testimony, his poor memory is even more so.

[105] During cross-examination, he answered approximately 170 times “Je ne me souviens pas”, “I don’t recall” or “I don’t remember”. This number is even more disconcerting considering that although the cross-examination spanned two days of the hearing, it lasted just over three hours, after deducting the time spent on the objections of counsel.
[106] The Tribunal even found it necessary to intervene with the complainant a few times to ensure he understood the distinction between a formal denial and a lack of memory, which leaves all possibilities open.

[107] Certain memory gaps are insignificant. Others can be explained, to a certain extent, by the passage of time, difficulty providing details, or as the complainant said, his need to put this matter behind him.

[108] On the other hand, several of his memory flaws are major, unjustifiable, and even misleading. They clumsily reflect an obvious intent to avoid the cross-examination.

[109] The evidence reveals that on May 4, 2013, a police intervention involving another officer and the complainant occurred. On that day, Sergeant Daniel Théorêt saw an unoccupied vehicle double-parked and blocking traffic on Saint-Roch Street in Montreal. The police officer waited a few minutes and then intercepted the complainant as he was about to get back in his vehicle.

[110] The complainant argued. He was of the view that there is no offence committed when a vehicle is double-parked for less than two minutes. The police officer replied that he had been observing the scene for at least three minutes.

[111] Like the June 4, 2011, incident, the complainant invoked his police technology training in support of his claims. The police officer was not impressed and issued him a statement of offence.

[112] Back in his patrol car, Sergeant Théorêt noticed that the complainant had not yet left; his vehicle was still double-parked. The officer had to return and order him to move.

[113] During cross-examination, the complainant said he had no recollection of that incident.

[114] On February 13, 2014, the complainant was arrested while driving a vehicle in the borough of Villeray-Saint-Michel-Parc-Extension. He was given three statements of offence.
 

[115] The first statement of offence issued to the complainant was for driving a vehicle while his licence was under sanction. The fine was $450. The two other statements of offence were for an expired transit and having misled a peace officer. The complainant's vehicle was towed.
[116] During cross-examination, the complainant was asked to explain himself. He said had no recollection of this.

[117] A certain analogy can be made, however, between that event and the circumstances of the June 4, 2011, police intervention: a driver's licence subject to sanction, an unpaid fine, a transit registration, several statements of offence and the towing of the vehicle.

[118] The impact of such an unfortunate experience is not negligible, if only having once again to endure the seizure and towing of his vehicle, an event which any person would normally remember, and the serious financial consequences, particularly given the complainant’s precarious financial situation.

[119] The complainant’s refusal to acknowledge his arrest on February 13, 2014, during cross-examination is thus troubling.

[120] It should be added that more than once during his testimony, the complainant invoked his arrests prior to June 4, 2011, to highlight the fact that the police officers had never previously questioned the validity of his driver's licence. He cannot therefore have forgotten the clearly more significant and more recent arrest on February 13, 2014, without appearing to have a selective memory.
[121] The evidence also reveals a significant event that occurred on May 21, 2010, when the complainant was stopped at the wheel of his spouse’s vehicle. The car was towed on the ground that the driver's licence of the complainant’s spouse was under sanction for unpaid fines, prohibiting it from being on the road.

[122] Regardless of the fact that this last event occurred before this dispute, the complainant’s obstinacy in claiming that he has no memory of it cannot but cause surprise, as if, once again, the seizure and towing of a vehicle was a mundane fact.

[123] The evidence also reveals that on July 25, 2012, the complainant was a victim of a traffic accident in Montreal. He was taken to the hospital by ambulance because of his condition. As a precautionary measure, a cervical collar was applied by the ambulance technicians. The complainant was discharged from the hospital a few hours later after X-rays were taken.

[124] With respect to this event, the complainant was asked the following question: [translation] “Do you remember being in an accident in Quebec on July 25, 2012, in which you were injured?”
 The complainant answered in the negative.
[125] Questioned again in detail, the complainant answered that it was not so much the accident as the date on which it occurred that he could not remember.

[126] The complainant’s explanation was merely the adjustment of his account during his cross-examination. Forgetting a serious accident, even though he corrected himself, is hardly credible.

[127] According to another event record, on May 9, 2009, the complainant’s spouse called the 911 emergency service. She was afraid of the complainant, both for her own immediate safety and that of her children.
 Her statement was taken by police officers.

[128] When this complaint and the police intervention of the same day were raised, the complainant said he had no memory of them or any other complaint of conjugal violence by his spouse.

[129] Is it credible for an individual to be unable to deny or admit a specific incident of conjugal violence or any other incident of that nature in general because his memory is so poor? This question can only be answered in the negative.
[130] What is more, another episode of violence occurred in August 2015. After the couple separated in September 2014, the complainant was living in Calgary. He was in Montreal to visit his children. To facilitate the visit, the complainant’s former spouse gave him the keys to her apartment so he could stay there for a few days while she was away.

[131] When she returned to her apartment, the complainant’s former spouse discovered that the complainant, in all likelihood in a fit of jealousy, used a knife to slash the new leather couch, a black footstool and four chairs. The complainant also stole an envelope containing $1,400.

[132] The complainant’s former spouse reported the incident to the police. When contacted again a few days later, she refused to file a complaint.

[133] During his cross-examination on this issue, the complainant admitted to having used a knife and caused damage but was unable to name the objects he damaged. When counsel for the defendants listed the damaged objects, he finally acknowledged that it was accurate. The complainant also admitted stealing the envelope and its content but could not remember the amount of money inside.

[134] That such a serious event could be blocked out from his memory to then gradually return when faced with the evidence, is a questionable about-face.
[135] In conclusion, the Tribunal does not believe the complainant’s numerous memory failures. Fearing the impact of his cross-examination on the outcome of the case, he tried to avoid it by feigning numerous implausible memory failures.

2.  
Contradictions in the complainant’s testimony 
[136] On February 29, 2012, the complainant stood trial at the Montreal Municipal Court to contest the statements of offence given to him by Officers Fournier and Robidoux on June 4, 2011.

[137] Before Florent Bisson J., the complainant explained that at the time of his arrest, he was not aware that his driver's licence was subject to sanction. He said that he knew that his payment of the fine was outstanding, but no more. He noted that because he was a police technology student, he was concerned about having a  good record with respect to the payment of his fines. He makes sure to make [translation] “arrangements”
 with the authorities, which he thought he had done for the unpaid fine underlying the sanction on his driver's licence. 

[138] Yet, the complainant’s file at the SAAQ reveals driving prohibitions for failure to pay statements of offence for the following periods:

· from July 23, 2010, to February 22, 2012;

· from June 28, 2012, to December 11, 2014.

[139] As a result, over a period of just over four years, the complainant’s driver's licence was valid for only four months. While he was a police technology student from January 2011 until April 2012, the complainant’s driver's licence was continuously under sanction for unpaid fines, except during the last two months.

[140] The complainant’s driving record with the SAAQ contradicts the testimony he gave in Municipal Court according to which he was concerned about not having “a ticket on my name … anything on my name”.

[141] Not only is his statement false, but his driving record with respect to licence suspensions for failing to pay fines is mediocre.

[142] Furthermore, the complainant went further, saying that it was because he wanted to pay the balance owing of the fine that he was working as a delivery person for the Miramar restaurant in June 2011.

[143] Before the Tribunal, however, the complainant’s version was different. He maintains that he was unaware that his driver's licence was suspended and that the same is true with respect to the unpaid fine.

[144] This contradiction between his testimony in Municipal Court and before the Tribunal is irreconcilable.
[145] Later, the complainant was cross-examined before the Tribunal on the issue of drugs.

[146] The evidence reveals that on March 11, 2011, the complainant and his spouse were arrested for drug possession and trafficking. The case concluded with a guilty plea by the spouse and the withdrawal of the charge against the complainant.

[147] Questioned on this, the complainant acknowledged this run-in with the law. What is more, he spontaneously stated that the drug in question was ecstasy:

A 
They said they gonna put a charge on me.

Q. 
For what?

A. 
For stupid – having ecstasy in possession, something like that.

Q. 
Methamphetamine? 

A. 
Yeah.

[148] Against all expectations, in the following seconds, the complainant denied having just specified the nature of the substance in question. He said: “I never said that”,
 “I don’t know,”
 and once again claimed, “I don’t remember”.

[149] In an unsuccessful attempt to draw out the word “ecstasy” from the complainant again, counsel for the defendants asked him, “methamphetamine or amphetamine, how do you call it?”
 The complainant answered, “I don’t know”.

[150] The complainant had no knowledge of information that he said he had a few seconds earlier.
[151] As for the allegation of the burned out headlight, which is one of the two reasons he was stopped according to the police officers, the complainant is convinced it is false.

[152] In this regard, he wrote in his September 20, 2013, statement to the Commission’s investigator that at no time did the police officers inform him that his vehicle had a defective headlight:


[translation]
Neither when I was stopped, nor at any other time, was I told that my headlight was burned out. … I was not given any warning or a ticket to inform me of this.

[153] This statement made by the complainant is contradicted by the testimony of his spouse, who informed the Tribunal that the day after the event, the complainant told her that he said he was stopped because of a [translation] “light”:
 


[translation]

He told me at the outset that it was for a light; I didn’t understand because … there was no problem with the lights. So I thought it was something more than that.

[154] When the complainant recounted the events from the moment the police officers left him on the sidewalk with his personal belongings, he said he spoke to his boss, who sent another employee to come get him.

[155] The complainant says that during the ride back, he was in shock and overwhelmed by his emotions, such that he was unable to tell his colleague what he had just gone through:


[translation]

The person who came to get me asked what had happened. But I … I was so terrified and I was crying the whole time, so I wasn’t able to explain what had just happened.

[156]  Conversely, in his February 15, 2013, statement to the Commission’s investigator, he said rather that he told his colleague all about his unfortunate experience, to the point that he found it worth undertaking to provide his colleague’s contact information so that he could corroborate his statements. He wrote:


[translation] 

I called a colleague to come get me. He could come testify. I told him everything that had happened.

[157] When asked to substantiate the moral injury he sustained, the complainant said that he was so disturbed by the June 4, 2011, police intervention that he has since abstained from driving a vehicle in Quebec, but then nuanced his statement by saying that he does so only rarely.

[158] Yet, as discussed, the evidence reveals that the complainant has driven a vehicle in Quebec on several occasions since then.

[159] As for the current status of his relationship with his former spouse, the complainant says it is very positive, even warm:

I have moved on. Everybody have moved on but we are still close.
 

     (Emphasis added.)
[160] This statement is contradicted by his former spouse, who, on the contrary, describes a relationship without emotional closeness and says they communicate only in regard to the children:


[translation]

Strictly for the children. We avoid talking to each other. We avoid … discussing anything. We have not yet stopped talking about the children.

[161] Faced with this contradiction, the former spouse’s version of the facts is clearly more credible. It is logical and understandable, if only because of the complainant’s disorganization and violence in August 2015.

[162] After having analyzed the complainant’s testimony, the Tribunal cannot accept it, as his credibility and reliability were so seriously eroded during his cross-examination, which highlighted his hesitations, lack of transparency and contradictions.
[163] In short, the minimum relationship of trust required for the complainant’s testimony to serve as evidence of contested facts is not present. It cannot be relied on to identify the true sequence of events of June 4, 2011, and resolve the disputed aspects.

D.  
Testimony of Officers Fournier and Robidoux

[164] Officer Fournier has been working for the SPVM, at PDQ-39, which serves the borough of Montreal-North, since May 14, 2007. He has been a patroller since 2009.

[165] Officer Robidoux has been with the SPVM since 2006. He was first assigned to PDQ-39 for 11 months and then returned from 2009 to September 2011.

[166] Officers Fournier and Robidoux recounted their versions of the facts that took place on June 4, 2011, and each explained their interventions. While the facts described are similar overall, their testimony nevertheless revealed certain contradictions.

1.  
Officer Fournier’s testimony
[167] As a witness, Officer Fournier limited the information he provided and avoided questions going beyond the context of the event in dispute.

[168] This attitude was particularly apparent when the Commission tried to obtain information from him concerning the social context.

[169] With respect to the death of Fredy Villanueva during a police intervention involving two colleagues from the same neighbourhood station, Office Fournier stated:
 


[translation]

Q. 
O.K. And, when it happened, did you discuss the death of Mr. Villanueva, was it discussed at PDQ-39?

A. 
I have no … Mtre Campbell, I don’t remember that anymore.

…

A.
So, for me, maybe it didn’t make … I didn’t … it wasn’t important to me to … That’s all.

[170] With respect to the riot that took place the day after Fredy Villanueva’s death, he knows just as little:


[translation]

A. 
I wasn’t working that day.

Q. 
… Did you work the next day?

A. 
… it was my week off.

Q.
… So, when you came back from your week off … did anyone talk to you about the riot in Montreal-North following Villanueva’s death?

A.
Honestly, I don’t remember. It was too, too long ago. I can’t … I don’t remember.

[171] On August 9 and 10, 2008, the population of the borough of Montreal-North was in turmoil. A young 18-year old man with no criminal record died tragically, killed by a police officer. A violent riot ensued. PDQ-39 was at the epicentre of the crises, and Officer Fournier claims to have no memory of how his superiors and colleagues reacted at the time or subsequently.

[172] Officer Fournier referred to it like a simple miscellaneous fact, a fleeting crisis that occurred during his week off, without being able to report any noticeable impact when he returned to work the week after.

[173] Officer Robidoux, on the other hand, said that the death of Fredy Villanueva and the riot that took place the next day were the subject of discussion among his colleagues and that they were deeply troubled. This tragedy affected relations between the police officers and the population they served for several years.

[174] Officer Fournier was just as evasive when counsel for the Commission tried to obtain information on the le phenomenon of street gangs in Montreal-North:


[translation]

· Do you know what the Bloods are? [translation] “Street gangs in my sector; I’m not interested in that;”

· When questioned on the phenomenon of street gangs in general, or the “Bloods” or the “Crisps” [sic] in particular, he said he knows of them only through [translation] “the media and social networks … the news,”
 without ever referring to any information that might have come from a colleague or immediate superior;

· Do these street gangs operate in Montreal-North? [translation] “I have no idea;”

· Does he know if the “Bloods” or the “Crisps” [sic] are racialized? [translation] “No, honestly, no;”

· In his ten years as a police officer PDQ-39, did citizens ever tell him that the “Bloods” might be involved in criminal activity in Montreal-North? [translation] “No, not to my knowledge;”
 
· Were special squads called upon to intervene to fight against the phenomenon of street gangs in Montreal-North? [translation] “No, not that I’m aware.”
 
· Were programs established to prevent the criminal activities of street gangs? [translation] “I have no idea. … Those things don’t interest me;”

· Was he aware of directives seeking to increase police visibility to promote reconciliation with the population? [translation] “no … not with respect to patrollers.”
 Concerning his colleagues? [translation] “I have no idea … I don’t remember;”

· Did any of his superiors tell him about a problem or criminal activity specific to the neighbourhood? [translation] “No.”
 Officer Fournier was able to identify only one issue, that of the safety of elderly people with respect to traffic;

· Did he notice an increase in personnel at PDQ-39 following the Villanueva affair? [translation] “I don’t remember exactly.”

[175] Officer Robidoux, for his part, testified that when he was working at PDQ-39, crime involving street gangs was a problem in Montreal-North.
[176] He added that the Montreal-North and Rivière-des-Prairies areas were the cradle of street gangs with “red” allegiances in Quebec. The members reflect the population of those areas. The majority are of Caribbean descent, while others are of Latin American, Arab or Quebecois origin. Among other things, some members of these street gangs are tied to drug trafficking.

[177] Officer Robidoux explained that the Villanueva affair led to an increase in personnel at PDQ-39, which he was thus able to rejoin from 2009 to 2011. In the Tribunal’s view, it is, to say the least, ironic that Officer Fournier had no memory of this increase, although his partner on June 4, 2011, Officer Robidoux, was one of the additional police officers assigned to that police station.

[178] In addition, in 2008, a local action plan was established at PDQ-39 to increase police officers’ visibility to reassure the population in the face of the phenomenon of street gangs in the neighbourhood.

[179] The salient features of this plan and information concerning each of the issues previously addressed by the two officers are set out in the following excerpt from the Perreault Report.
[180] The following appears under the heading [translation] “Neighbourhood police station 39 and its plan”:
 

[translation]
In 2008, the local action plan for neighbourhood police station 39, approved by the Commission de la sécurité publique de la Ville de Montréal, advocates ensuring police visibility by fostering direct and recurrent contact with the population, particularly in targeted area such as neighbourhoods and parks frequented by street gangs.

Street gangs, involving both adults and youth, are considered to be a local priority because of the problems they cause in the area of station 39, which covers Montreal-North. The diversity of street gang members’ ethnic origins underlies certain confrontations among the gangs, affecting citizens’ quality of life and sense of security. Continued efforts in this regard are therefore planned.

…

Keeping street-gang related areas of interest under observation is considered a preventive measure with respect to the phenomenon of street gangs, as is the collection and sharing of information concerning persons of interest.

[181] That Officer Fournier was contradicted in this way and that he said he was not told or completely forgot about such important information concerning the situation of the  neighbourhood station where he had been working for almost ten years and where he had been patrolling since 2009 affects his credibility and the reliability of his testimony. The same is true with respect to his concealment of or incapacity to disclose any characteristics specific to that neighbourhood, even more so given the social crisis of such considerable scope.

[182] The explanation that his responsibilities as a patroller assigned to road safety were different than those of his colleagues in charge of fighting against criminal activity is unsatisfactory to excuse the flaws in his testimony. The Tribunal does not believe Officer Fournier when he says he is aware of the phenomenon of street gangs in his neighbourhood only through media, social networks, and news reports, without ever referring to his work environment as a source of information. Ultimately, his concealments, seeking to limit his knowledge of street gangs to the lowest level of information disclosed to the general public defies common sense.

[183] In conclusion, Officer Fournier clearly tried to avoid cross-examination. His testimony was outrageously evasive on certain issues, to the point of reversing its probative value.

2.  
Officer Robidoux's testimony
[184] Officer Robidoux’s version is more complete and nuanced than that of Officer Fournier.
[185] On several points, Officer Robidoux’s version was more favourable to the plaintiff’s position than his colleague’s. In view of the fact the interests of the defendants are opposed to those of the complainant and the plaintiff, this adds value to his testimony.
[186] Officer Robidoux testified that the complainant’s attitude was [translation] “exemplary” from the moment of his initial stop until he got out of his vehicle when the two officers informed him of the irregularities concerning his driver's licence and the warrant for fine collection.

[187] Conversely, Officer Fournier stated in the deposition he gave to the Commission’s investigator that even before exiting his vehicle, the complainant was already agitated and disrespectful, vigorously denying the offences alleged against him. He wrote:


[translation]
The information came back that Mr. Mensah had a file open in Quebec and that his Quebec license was under sanction. In addition … he was wanted by the Ville de Montréal for a warrant for fine collection … . I told my partner about the information obtained and asked him to tell Mr. Mensah. Until then, everything was fine. Then things got complicated. Mr. Mensah became impolite. He denied being wanted; he denied having two driver's licences, and he raised his voice with us,

Mr. Mensah was then asked to exit his vehicle so the three of us could have a discussion.

[188] The Tribunal also notes that during his cross-examination, Officer Robidoux, contrary to his colleague, answered fully and without hesitation to all of counsel for the Commission’s questions concerning the social context, criminal activity, and the phenomenon of street gangs in Montreal-North.
[189] While the Tribunal prefers the testimony of Officer Robidoux to that of Officer Fournier, that does not mean it is entirely without fault.
[190] The Tribunal cannot overlook the fact that during a pause in Officer Fournier’s testimony, Officer Robidoux went to see his colleague in an interview room and discussed his testimony with him.

[191] It should be noted at the outset that this incident does not entail any violation of the order excluding witnesses, as it is well established that such orders do not apply to the parties.
 It is not Officer Robidoux’s presence in the courtroom during Officer Fournier’s testimony that concerns the Tribunal, but the discussion the two police officers had outside the courtroom at the instigation of Officer Robidoux.

[192] When asked to explain, Officer Robidoux said he was primarily seeking to help his colleague relax because he seemed [translation] “very stressed”.  He therefore talked to him about various insignificant subjects.

[193] Officer Robidoux admitted, however, that he asked his colleague about the various reports prepared with respect to the incident that took place on June 4, 2011, event, and his examination in that regard:


[translation]

Hey, when you were asked about the type of report we prepared, why didn’t you talk about the offence reports concerning the tickets?
[194] By raising this question, even during a short discussion with his colleague, Officer Robidoux gave Officer Fournier the opportunity to correct his testimony on this specific point, and even change it.

[195] What is more, from the moment evidence is presented of a conversation between police officers concerning an aspect of testimony in progress, as peripheral to the dispute as it may be, the Tribunal cannot but doubt that the conversation may have gone beyond the scope of what Officer Robidoux was willing to acknowledge when questioned in this regard.

[196] Officer Robidoux has significant experience testifying before the courts, however. He stated that he had done so over 300 times during his career.
 He could not have been unaware that by holding a discussion with his colleague, who had not finished testifying, he was venturing into dangerous territory.
E. The sequence of events accepted by the Tribunal and their analysis pursuant to the principles applicable to discrimination

[197] Now, what can we conclude in this case?

[198] The first step of the analysis is to determine whether the facts proved on a balance of probabilities establish prima facie discrimination by racial profiling.

[199] It should be noted that the defendants cannot hide behind the legality of the police intervention or its apparently appropriate nature to defeat the application. The Tribunal essentially has to determine whether the intervention interfered with the complainant’s right to equality.

[200] To determine whether the complainant’s right to equality was violated within the meaning of section 10 of the Charter, it is appropriate to first determine whether the complainant was subject to differential treatment by Officers Fournier and Robidoux.
[201] To determine whether the police officers adopted different conduct with the complainant than that usually adopted in the same circumstances, the evidence of a violation of another provision of the Quebec Charter or the Canadian Charter may be relevant. As an illustration, an unreasonable search within the meaning of section 24.1 of the Quebec Charter or section 8 of the Canadian Charter, which is equivalent, may be an indication of differential treatment.
[202] The more serious and palpable the violation, the more it also departs from the norm, and the more it is likely to support a conclusion of unusual or differential treatment, which in the context of the evidence as a whole, could contribute to a conclusion of discriminatory conduct.
[203] Consideration of whether the police officers’ intervention was lawful is but one aspect of the comparison
 necessary to identify unusual or differential treatment. It falls within a much broader category of indicators of discrimination recognized by the case law and discussed in scholarly commentary.
[204] With respect to stopping the complainant’s vehicle, there is no credible evidence that it resulted from racial profiling. On the contrary, when the police officers activated their patrol car’s flashing lights, they knew nothing about the driver.

[205] The principle ground for stopping the complainant’s vehicle according to Officer Robidoux was the burned out headlight. This statement is credible, and the reason he gave for not issuing a statement of offence, exercising his police discretion, is convincing.

[206] The only evidence to the contrary regarding the proper functioning of the headlight arises from the testimony of the complainant’s former spouse. But she never carefully examined the headlight of the vehicle when she picked it up at the pound, or at any other time.

[207] At the time, the complainant’s former spouse made sure that her vehicle was maintained by her mechanic [translation] “for an oil change,”
 but nothing more. She did not notice any problem.

[208] However, no invoice for the maintenance of the vehicle was filed in support of her statements, which remain uncertain. What is more, the replacement of a headlight bulb is a minor repair that she could have overlooked.

[209] This evidence is therefore not sufficiently thorough and is too uncertain to conclude that it is more probable than not that the headlight was working properly on June 4, 2011.

[210] There is also the undeniable fact that the complainant was driving a vehicle without a licence plate. This second ground invoked for the stop retains its full value regardless of whether the transit was visible, according to the police officers’ divergent versions.

[211] The Tribunal concludes that the two grounds invoked by the police officers for stopping the complainant are the only reasons he was stopped.

[212] Let us now consider the use of a flashlight by the police officers when they approached the complainant’s vehicle to conduct a visual inspection of its interior, without entering it, however.
[213] In R. v. Mellenthin,
 not only did the Supreme Court recognize the lawfulness of a visual inspection with the aid of a flashlight into the interior of a vehicle stopped at night, but it also encouraged police officers to do so at the earliest opportunity. It stated:
There can be no quarrel with the visual inspection of the car by police officers. At night the inspection can only be carried out with the aid of a flashlight and it is necessarily incidental to a check stop program carried out after dark. The inspection is essential for the protection of those on duty in the check stops. There have been more than enough incidents of violence to police officers when vehicles have been stopped. … Although the safety of the police might make it preferable to use the flashlight at the earliest opportunity, it certainly can be utilized at any time as a necessary incident to the check stop routine.

[214] Considering the Supreme Court’s comments, Officers Robidoux and Fournier had to use their flashlight when approaching the complainant’s vehicle at night and conduct a visual inspection to ensure their safety, if only to check for the presence of other passengers or accessible weapons in the car.

[215] There is no question of any characteristic specific to the complainant or unusual treatment at this stage, especially since it was only once Officer Robidoux approached the driver’s side door that he noticed for the first time that the driver was a young black man, while his colleague went to the rear right side to conduct the routine visual inspection.

[216] Once they obtained the complainant’s documents, the police officers conducted the usual verifications, which revealed that his driver's licence was under sanction and that there was an outstanding warrant for fine collection issued against him.
[217] Officers Fournier and Robidoux therefore subjectively and objectively had reasonable and probable grounds
 to conclude that the complainant had committed two offences :

· driving a road vehicle in Quebec while holding more than one driver's licence issued by an administrative authority in Canada, thereby violating section 94(2) of the H.S.C.;

· driving a road vehicle in Quebec while his driver's licence was under sanction, thereby violating section 105 of the H.S.C.
[218] The complainant was therefore ordered to exit his vehicle before being informed of the two offences at issue, the towing of his vehicle and the warrant for fine collection. According to Officer Robidoux, this manner of proceeding has two objectives:

· preventing a driver from escaping once informed of the above while still behind the wheel;

· ensuring the officer’s safety in the event the driver suddenly tries to escape in a careless manner.

[219] In the Tribunal’s opinion, these explanations are reasonable and lawful. This precaution was appropriate given the nature of the information the police officers were about to give the complainant and the consequences that might result. Officer Robidoux’s testimony justifies setting aside consideration of a prohibited ground of discrimination under the Charter and differential treatment of the complainant in ordering him to exit his vehicle.

[220] Once behind his vehicle, the complainant was effectively informed of the offences at issue, the warrant for fine collection, and the seizure of his vehicle. He was also informed of his right to silence and his right to consult counsel.
[221] Officer Robidoux then described the escalation of the complainant’s threatening attitude and aggressive conduct that led to his arrest and being handcuffed. The purpose was to ensure the officers’ safety and put the complainant in the patrol car to allow him to calm down.

[222] The Tribunal accepts that the complainant suddenly became extremely agitated. He protested vigorously. He was angry, raised his voice, yelled and gesticulated.

[223] Despite the inconvenience that the complainant’s attitude may have caused at that moment to the police officers’ work, it cannot justify his arrest and the use of force.

[224] The subsequent intensification of the reactions of the complainant, who became aggressive in his speech and conduct and adopted a threatening attitude towards the  police officers, must however be assessed, taking into account his previous reactions as a whole.

[225] Not only did the complainant yell and gesticulate, but he also clenched his fists, furrowed his brow, and displayed a threatening demeanor.

[226] Consequently, the Tribunal concludes that the complainant’s arrest was based on reasonable grounds and that the use of force, including the use of handcuffs, was proportionate; it was all justified by the high level of tension and the imminent risk that the complainant could commit an offensive act.

[227] Above all, such being the true essence of the debate, the Tribunal draws from the defence’s evidence that safety concerns were the only factors underlying the police officers’ decision to take these measures. They do not represent differential or unusual treatment of the complainant by the police officers based on a prohibited ground of discrimination [translation] “as compared with usual practices in similar circumstances.”

[228] While the police officers were placing him under arrest, the complainant suddenly glared at Officer Robidoux. He told him he was a police technology student in Ontario and that in the event of the execution of the warrant or the seizure of his vehicle, he would file a complaint for having been beaten.

[229] Officer Robidoux was concerned by what he had just heard. He recorded the complainant’s comments in the abridged report of one of the statements of offence
 and informed the complainant that they could be harmful to him in the event of an investigation to ensure his good reputation prior to obtaining employment as a peace officer.

[230] In the Tribunal’s opinion, by invoking his status as a police technology student, the complainant may have been seeking favourable treatment.
 He also wanted to assert power over the police officers by threatening to accuse them of having caused him bodily injury. That Officer Robidoux found it appropriate to make note of this is beyond reproach. That he also informed the complainant of this was an appropriate warning for the complainant to cease this course of conduct.

[231] What happened immediately after this moment, however, is concerning.

[232] The Tribunal finds that there was a discriminatory violation of the complainant’s rights at the following stages:

· The two searches incidental to the complainant’s arrest;

· The questions the complainant was asked to find out whether he was in possession of [translation] “anything illegal” or drugs.

[233] Section 24.1 of the Quebec Charter provides that “No one may be subjected to unreasonable search or seizure”. This wording is repeated in section 8 of the Canadian Charter, which states that “Everyone has the right to be secure against unreasonable search or seizure”. It is not uncommon for these statutory provisions to be invoked simultaneously in the case law given that they are so similar.
 

[234] The basic principle set out by the Supreme Court in R. v. Collins,
 and recently reiterated in R. v. Jones,
 is as follows:
To be reasonable and therefore consistent with s. 8 of the Charter, a search must meet three requirements: (1) the search must be authorized by law; (2) the authorizing law must be reasonable; and (3) the search must be conducted reasonably.

[235] Moreover, in Hunter v. Southam,
 R. v. Collins,
 and R. v. Caslake,
 the Supreme Court stated that a warrantless search is presumed to be unreasonable. In R. v. Stillman,
 however, the Court stated that the power to conduct a search incidental to arrest is an exception to this rule.
[236] At the time of the complainant’s arrest, the police officers were lawfully empowered to conduct an incidental search. This power arises from the common law. It has three distinct purposes:

· ensuring the safety of the police and the public;
· the protection of evidence from destruction or loss;
· the discovery of evidence related to the arrest.
[237] It is sufficient for the police officers to have conducted the search incidental to arrest for only one of these purposes for it to be valid. The officer’s belief that the search incidental to arrest will achieve that purpose must be reasonable, however.

[238] In this case, the purpose of searching the complainant, i.e., to ensure the police officers’ safety, in the circumstances of the arrest, and even more importantly, prior to putting him in the patrol car to give him the chance to calm down, was prudent and reasonable.

[239] However, even if authorized by law and for a valid purpose, a search incidental to arrest must not be conducted in an abusive fashion, or it will be invalidated.

[240] In R. v. Fearon,
 the Supreme Court advised the courts to pay particular attention to this “fundamental”
 final step in the analysis.

[241] The Court of Appeal noted this same concern in Kosoian c. Société de transport de Montréal.
 Vauclair J.A. stated:
[translation]
[42] … I cannot emphasize enough, in accordance with the Supreme Court’s decision in Fearon, the fact that the incidental search must not be abusive ….

[242] The evidence reveals a first summary search of the complainant between the two vehicles and a second one just before he was put in the patrol car.

[243] But why was the complainant searched twice?

[244] The case law defining police officers’ power to conduct a search incidental to arrest always addressed the concept from the perspective of an incidental search or the incidental search.

[245] Without finding that only one search incidental to arrest is permitted in every case and in all circumstances, it is important to keep in mind that in this case, the police intervention took place in application of the H.S.C. and in execution of a warrant for fine collection. The complainant was not accused of having committed any crime.

[246] How do the police officers explain this?

[247] Officer Robidoux hypothesized that Officer Fournier must have wanted to finish the first search, which was too summary: [translation] “I had that impression because a more thorough search takes a lot more time, and there are things in the pockets, and the inside pockets are turned inside out, but that wasn’t done.”

[248] This is mere supposition; Officer Robidoux never asked his colleague, either on the spot or subsequently, why he acted that way. Thus, it cannot be used as proof of its content.
[249] Moreover, the Tribunal does not accept the theory put forth by Officer Robidoux that a second more thorough search was conducted to finish the first one. Although he noted that his colleague took the time required to conduct the second search, the fact remains that it was just as summary as the first search; both were conducted by pat-down, without really taking [translation] “much more time” and without [translation] “turning inside out” the inside pockets of the complainant’s clothes.
[250] As for Officer Fournier, contrary to Officer Robidoux, during his testimony he described only one search incidental to the complainant’s arrest. He was therefore completely silent on the reasons why a second incidental search of the complainant was necessary.

[251] No satisfactory explanation was therefore given in defence to counter the unreasonable nature of the second incidental search and support its validity.

[252] The second search incidental to the complainant’s arrest was therefore unreasonable and therefore violates section 24.1 of the Quebec Charter and section 8 of the Canadian Charter. By its nature, context and circumstances, this violation constitutes an indication of different or unusual treatment.

[253] Added to this are Officer Fournier’s questions to the complainant prior to searching him, asking if he was in possession of sharp objects, anything illegal, or drugs. These questions in and of themselves raise concern with respect to the unreasonable nature of both searches.

[254] Officer Fournier justifies the part of his questioning about being in possession of sharp objects on the fact that he wanted to conduct the pat-down search without risk of injuring himself.

[255] As for the part of his question dealing with possession of drugs or anything illegal, Officer Fournier said that if the detained person cooperated by immediately handing over the drugs in his or her possession, for example, and the quantity is negligible, it will be seized for destruction without criminal charges being laid.

[256] Yet, the teachings of the Supreme Court in regard to stops under the H.S.C. accompanied by inquisitorial questioning by police officers are unequivocal: such questions are prohibited.

[257] In Ladouceur,
 the Supreme Court recognized the validity of random stops of motorists by police officers under the Canadian Charter, but held that in exchange, the only questions that may be asked are those concerning driving offences. Any other inquisitorial process may be initiated only on the strict condition that it is based on reasonable and probable grounds.

[258] This rule is not limited to random stops. It applies generally to interventions under the H.S.C., which, in fact, the defendants did not question.

[259] In this case, the complainant’s agitation and aggressiveness cannot in any way justify the questions concerning the possession of drugs or anything illegal.

[260] In the words of Mtre Michèle Turenne, it is a clear situation of [translation] “questions that are inappropriate or asked without valid reason … .”

[261] There were absolutely no reasonable and probable grounds for Officer Fournier, either objectively or subjectively, to question the complainant about drug possession. These questions fall within the purest form of speculation.

[262] The Tribunal emphasizes that Ladouceur was rendered in 1990. The violation of such a solidly established principle that has been known to the police for so long is even more serious and palpable and constitutes a marked departure from the usual standard of intervention. The magnitude of this departure from the standard constitutes a strong indication of differential treatment.

[263] Ultimately, Officer Fournier’s repetitive questions seeking the complainant’s admission to the possession of something illegal or drugs vitiate, in and of themselves, the two pat-down searches that followed.

[264] The police officers’ violation of section 24.1 of the Quebec Charter and section 8 of the Canadian Charter, combined with the circumstances established by the evidence, reveal the following picture:

· a tense social context between the population of the borough of Montreal-North and the police;

· an arrest in the wee hours of the morning;

· at the exit of a motel in the borough of Montreal-North;

· of a young black man;

· undergoing questions that, especially those concerning drug possession:

· violate the Quebec and Canadian Charters; 
· constitute a fishing expedition;
· are irrelevant and offensive.

· subject to two incidental searches upon his arrest:

· both in breach of the Quebec and Canadian Charters due to their contamination by questions concerning drug possession, prohibited in these circumstances by the Supreme Court;

· the second of which was neither necessary, nor appropriate.

[265] The Tribunal thus finds that there is prima facie evidence that the complainant was the victim of racial profiling. The most likely and rational explanation is that the complainant’s characteristics, a young black man, combined with a stereotype or bias of criminality, in particular with respect to drugs, were factors in Officer Fournier’s mind that led him to unlawfully question the complainant three times, i.e., twice with respect to the possession of anything illegal and once with respect to the possession of drugs, and to conduct two searches incidental to arrest.

[266] As a result of the connection between the prohibited grounds of discrimination and this differential treatment that impaired the complainant’s rights, it was up to the defendants to rebut this evidence or justify the police officers’ conduct or a combination of the two. It was up to them to convince the Tribunal that each of their interventions was based on reasonable grounds, without consideration of any prohibited ground of discrimination and did not constitute differential or unusual treatment.

[267] The exercise that must be undertaken was summarized thusly in Rezko:
 


[translation]

[199] Because a finding of racial profiling is possible in cases where legitimate grounds were present initially, but were set aside in the subsequent stages of an intervention, a defendant must establish his or her defence for each stage of his or her intervention in order to effectively rebut the allegations against him or her. The defendant must also demonstrate that, at no time did discriminatory considerations taint his or her intervention or lead to differential treatment of the complainant due to the complainant’s colour or ethnic origin. ...
[268] Above all, the defendants established characteristics and particularities specific to the complainant and noted the contradictions and implausibilities in his testimony to successfully undermine his credibility. They were also able to establish that the complainant’s behaviour justified their conduct at several steps in the police intervention, successfully contradicting several of his submissions.

[269] However, the evidence submitted by the defendants to rebut this prima facie evidence of discrimination is weak.
[270] With respect to the questions posed to the complainant
 before undertaking the two searches incidental to his arrest, Officer Fournier tried to refute the allegation that it was a discriminatory act on the ground that he asks this question systematically before conducting a pat-down search on any person.

[271] To accept such an explanation would be tantamount to admitting that the flagrant violation of the Quebec and Canadian Charters is for Officer Fournier a normal, usual, justified and acceptable work method that is capable of refuting prima facie evidence of discrimination or justifying it. 
[272] What is more, Officer Fournier’s conduct, which was peculiar to say the least, took place while he working in the borough of Montreal-North, which has an ethnically diverse population.
 Conduct that is systematic in the given circumstances certainly does not exclude the possibility that it is discriminatory.
[273] We can therefore only conclude that this explanation is inadmissible. The same is true with respect to both searches incidental to the complainant’s arrest.
[274] Another reason why the second search incidental to the complainant’s arrest was discriminatory is that its relevance, usefulness or necessity were not established. No justification was put forward by Officer Fournier, who was completely silent on this issue, while Officer Robidoux proposed a hypothesis that, further to analysis, proved to be unfounded.

[275] In short, the defendants’ evidence is insufficient to rebut the prima facie evidence of discrimination by racial profiling during the June 4, 2011, police intervention.
[276] The Tribunal finds that Officer Fournier engaged in conduct, while in the performance of his duties and in a position of authority, constituting discrimination by racial profiling. The complainant was thus the victim of a distinction, exclusion or preference, based on colour and age, which had the effect of nullifying or impairing his right to full and equal recognition and exercise of his rights to personal security, inviolability and freedom and his right not to be subjected to unreasonable searches, in breach of sections 1, 10 and 24.1 of the Charter.
[277] The Tribunal also finds that the facts underlying the conclusion that there was discrimination by racial profiling, both objectively and subjectively,
 constitute a serious infringement of the complainant’s right to the safeguard of his dignity protected by section 4 of the Charter and [translation] “a particularly contemptuous affront to his or her racial, ethnic or other identity that is fraught with consequences for that person”.

[278] What about Officer Robidoux?

[279] Officer Robidoux did not conduct the searches incidental to arrest of the complainant and did not question him about the possession of drugs or anything illegal.

[280] However, is this sufficient to escape liability?

[281] The case law does not create any automatism applicable to interventions involving more than one police officer, such that an individual analysis of this matter should be favoured.

[282] What is the impact of Officer Fournier’s questions to the complainant, in the presence
 of Officer Robidoux, considering that the Supreme Court in Ladouceur concluded that such questions are prohibited and moreover, they vitiated both searches of the complainant in this case.
[283] Officer Robidoux had to have been fully aware that Officer Fournier was addressing the complainant to ask him, not once or twice, but three times, questions that violated the rules that “… the only questions that may justifiably be asked are those related to driving offences. Any further, more intrusive procedures could only be undertaken based upon reasonable and probable grounds”.
 The Tribunal repeats what it said to Officer Fournier to Officer Robidoux – this was a violation of a solidly established principle known to the police for a long time.
[284] Contrary to this basic principle, Officer Robidoux never told his colleague to stop questioning the complainant in a discriminatory and abusive manner.
[285] The fact that the question was repeated a second and then a third time, substituting the words [translation] “possession of anything illegal” with [translation] “possession of drugs” also constitute missed opportunities to intervene that ultimately render Officer Robidoux liable with his colleague.
[286] Officer Robidoux’s tolerance of his colleague’s questions also contributed to vitiating the two searches in terms of their execution, rendering them discriminatory and abusive. He is therefore also liable.
[287] The Tribunal must therefore conclude that Officer Robidoux, while in the performance of his duties and in a position of authority, engaged in conduct constituting discrimination by racial profiling. He subjected the complainant to a distinction, exclusion or preference based on colour and age, that had the effect of nullifying or impairing his right to full and equal recognition and exercise of his rights to personal security, inviolability, freedom and the safeguard of his dignity and his right not to be subjected to unreasonable searches, in breach of sections 1, 4, 10 and 24.1 of the Charter.
[288] What about the subsequent stages of the police intervention?

[289] In Peart v. Peel Regional Police Services,
 The Court of Appeal for Ontario stated that convincing evidence of racial profiling at one stage of a police intervention does not necessarily entail the conclusion that the subsequent stages of the intervention are equally tainted, although it is in fact often the case. The Court stated:
[92] I cannot, however, accept the submission made by the ACLC that if the initial action taken by the police towards an individual is tainted by improper racial considerations, further actions taken towards that individual by the police will always be equally tainted. Often, the initial improper racial consideration will flow through to the subsequent police conduct. There will be situations, however, where despite improper racial profiling in the initial contact, the subsequent acts of the police are based on and justified by non-racial considerations. To take an extreme example, an officer may follow a person of colour on a public highway in part because that person is black. In doing so, even though the officer is not necessarily interfering with the individual’s constitutional rights, the officer is acting improperly. However, if the officer were to observe that person firing a gun at someone and proceed to arrest that person, the arrest would not necessarily be tainted by the initial improper racial profiling. It would be for the trier of fact to decide whether race played any role in the officer’s decision to arrest the person who fired the gun.
[290] Of course, the hypothesis raised as an illustration by the Court of Appeal for Ontario is at the other end of the spectrum, involving the use of a firearm and the endangerment of the life of a third person. Nevertheless, it is an eloquent demonstration of the danger of automatisms. Once again, judicial discretion must prevail.

[291] Let us return to the events that followed.

[292] With respect to the warrant for fine collection, the Commission alleges that the police officers acted in a discriminatory manner by preventing the complainant from taking steps to pay the fine and avoid the towing of his vehicle.

[293] This submission is unfounded.
[294] From a factual standpoint, the Tribunal accepts Officer Robidoux’s explanation that various options were presented to the complainant:

· pay the amount due immediately, either personally or by calling a person of his choice to obtain the necessary funds, in which case the police officers could have driven him there;

· appear before the fine collector.

[295] Because the complainant chose the latter option, the police officers fulfilled their duty to render aid.

[296] Above all, however, legally speaking the towing of the complainant’s vehicle was in no way related to his inability to pay the fine immediately. In this case, it was the result of the complainant driving a vehicle while his driver's licence was under sanction by the SAAQ and the discretion conferred upon police officers to seize and impound the vehicle. In this respect, section 209.2 of the H.S.C. provides:

209.2 A peace officer who believes on reasonable grounds that the driver of a road vehicle is under a sanction within the meaning of section 106.1 that relates to the driving of a vehicle of the particular class being driven may, at the owner’s expense and on behalf of the Société, immediately seize and impound the vehicle for a period of 30 days if the sanction was imposed under any of sections 180 or 183 to 185, any of paragraphs 1 to 4 of section 190 or any of sections 191 and 191.2, subparagraph 1 of the first paragraph of section 194 or any of sections 195.2, 202.1.4, 202.1.5, 202.4, 202.5, 328.1, 422.1 and 434.2.
[297] As for the warrant for fine collection resulting from the unpaid fine, the options were immediate payment or a recognizance to appear before the fine collector.

[298] Consequently, whether or not the complainant’s vehicle would be towed was never dependant on paying the balance of the fine. The fine had no impact in this respect.

[299] With respect to the inventory search that preceded the towing, Officer Robidoux said they are systematic in such cases and are performed in the following manner:

· inspection of the vehicle’s general condition, mainly with respect to visible damage;

· noting the kilometres appearing on the odometer;

· inspection of objects inside the vehicle to prevent their theft;

· confiscation of dangerous objects.

[300] The search for dangerous objects is for the safety of the staff of the towing company who will be required to move the vehicle and store it. In the case of a firearm, it is imperative that it is discovered and confiscated.

[301] Inspecting the vehicle’s condition and noting its kilometres is also intended to prevent any dispute in that regard between the towing company and the owner of the confiscated vehicle when it is picked up.

[302] Did the police officers exercise their discretion in a discriminatory manner, however, when they had the complainant’s vehicle towed and gave him two statements of offence?

[303] The Tribunal cannot disregard the extremely delicate situation the police officers were in.

[304] It is important to remember that the complainant’s reference to his status as a police technology student at the time of his arrest suggests that he was seeking preferential treatment. It would have been wrong for the police officers to decide to accommodate a “future colleague”.

[305] What it more, the complainant tried to intimidate the police officers by threatening to make a false complaint of having been beaten if his vehicle was towed.

[306] During his testimony, Officer Robidoux explained that in such circumstances, he could not backtrack, that is to say give in to the complainant’s pressure by releasing him without any other measure. The police intervention had to run its course.

[307] More than once during his testimony, Officer Robidoux said that towing the complainant’s vehicle [translation] “went without saying” in view of the H.S.C. offence at issue. The Tribunal concludes that this was the usual treatment of an offender in matters similar to the complainant’s.

[308] As for the two statements of offence, they were based on reasonable grounds and concerned separate offences committed by the complainant.

[309] Moreover, and without wanting to set out a general rule in this regard, the complainant was not facing a pile of tickets.

[310] Finally, the police officers showed some leniency, albeit slight, toward the complainant’s spouse in deciding not to issue a ticket for the vehicle’s burned out headlight.

[311] In the context of the complainant’s attitude, as described above, the police officers had to subsequently act in the most usual way possible to remain above reproach, including allegations of undue leniency.

[312] The Tribunal cannot fault the police officers for failing to give the complainant preferential treatment and not overlooking offences that they had reasonable and probable grounds to believe had been committed.

[313] The Tribunal finds Officer Robidoux’s explanation and the facts revealed by the defence sufficiently convincing to conclude on a balance of probabilities that there was no discrimination by racial profiling in the exercise of the police officers’ discretion at this stage.

[314] The Tribunal find that the two statements of offence issued to the complainant and the towing of his vehicle were based on reasonable grounds. The resulted from the regular and usual application of the law, without unusual or differential treatment, and especially without consideration by the police officers of a factor prohibited under the Charter.

	ISSUE 2:
	Did the complainant suffer injury justifying the award of moral damages?




[315] The Commission’s application for compensation for the moral damages suffered by the complainant is for $25,000.

[316] Establishing the evidence of injury falls on the complainant and his former spouse, who corroborated certain aspects.

[317] The complainant’s testimony in this regard, which is deficient in terms of credibility and probative value, is of no help in measuring its scope.

[318] Thus, the Tribunal cannot accept the complainant’s allegations of having abandoned his police technology studies as a result of the police officers’ conduct and trauma such that he now almost never dares drive a vehicle in Quebec.

[319] The extent of the psychological impact and suffering invoked by the complainant is inextricably linked to his deep conviction that he was the victim of discrimination at all stages of the police intervention.

[320] The complainant stated or it may be inferred from his testimony that he believes to have been the victim of racial profiling at the following times:

· the police officers’ concerted decision to stop his vehicle;

· his arbitrary and brutal arrest while he was calm and cooperative;

· the unjustified use of handcuffs;

· the police officers’ failure to inform him of the grounds for his arrest and his rights;

· the complete and unreasonable search of his vehicle to look for drugs;

· the intimidation he suffered with respect to his career plans;

· the refusal to allow him to communicate with a third person to obtain the funds necessary to pay the fine imposed;

· the towing of his vehicle.
· the issuance of two statements of offence;

· the arrogance displayed by the officer who gave him the statements of offence.

[321] The Tribunal has determined that this was not the case at each of these steps. The evidence establishes on a balance of probabilities that the events referred to above did not take place in the manner described or perceived by the complainant and were in no way discriminatory.

[322] In this context, the evidence of injury submitted by the Commission, in addition to being affected by the undermined credibility of the complainant, is of quite relative utility for establishing fair compensation for the moral damages suffered. Its assessment can only lead to a substantial reduction in relation to the application.
[323] Although, subject to the foregoing, the Tribunal accepts the testimony of the complainant’s former spouse describing his defeated attitude in the days following the police intervention, it will rely mainly on an objective
 assessment of the seriousness of the violation of the complainant’s fundamental rights and the moral damages inherent thereto or that are reasonably likely to arise therefrom.

[324] Racial profiling, when committed by a police officer, is in itself an aggravating circumstance in that it [translation] “deprives citizens of the due process of law; it violates the right to equality, impairs the integrity of the justice system and calls for a stay of proceedings as a remedy [in criminal law].”

[325] In this case, the discrimination by racial profiling occurred in a context of the complainant’s vulnerability, while he was under arrest. In addition to his humiliation, the complainant had a sense of powerlessness that could only add to the seriousness of the violation of his dignity.

[326] In Rezko,
 Pauzé J. assessed the moral damages sustained by a victim of racial profiling at $10,000. It should be noted that discriminatory remarks concerning ethnicity were made and that long, unreasonable and unsuccessful criminal record searches, bordering on harassment, were conducted, thereby unduly extending the victim’s deprivation of liberty.
[327] In Godin v. City of Montreal,
 the Court of Appeal referred extensively to a judgment of the Court of Quebec, Ruckenstein c. Montréal (Ville de),
 which contains a review of the case law on moral damages for unlawful arrest and violation of dignity. The relevant excerpts are as follows:
[65] In 2011, this Court confirmed the judgment of the Court of Quebec awarding damages to Mr. Ruckenstein who was illegally detained at the airport for one hour. He had a non-prohibited martial arts blade in his luggage. The Court of Quebec awarded $5,000 in damages (as well as $2,500 for his wife’s inconvenience even though she was not arrested). The Court of Quebec judge reviewed the applicable cases in coming to the foregoing awards as follows:


[translation]

[127] In Lauzon c. Gatineau (Ville de), Barbe J. of the Court of Quebec reviewed the case law on the issue of the damages awarded by the courts further to an unjustified arrest:


[translation]

[28] With respect to the extent of the damages arising from this unjustified arrest, the Court reviewed the judgments in similar cases.

[29] In Corrigan c. MUC, (1980 S.C. 853 to 860), an indemnity of $5,000 was awarded for the moral and material damage suffered by a plaintiff arrested and detained for three hours.

[30] In Rodrigue c. CUM, (1981 S.C. 442 to 446), the Court awarded an indemnity of $10,000 for unlawful arrest and detention lasting over four hours.

[31] In Spooner c. CUM, (J.E. 87-365), Rouillard J. awarded an indemnity of $5,000 for unlawful searches and arrest, unjustified detention and humiliation to a plaintiff who was detained for over an hour.

[32] In Heath c. P.G. du Québec, (1987 R.J.Q. 1168 to 1173), the Court awarded an amount of $7,000 for abuse and humiliation further to an unjustified arrest, a 30-minute discussion, the use of handcuffs for a short period and unjustified detention at the police station for an indeterminate period, but that seems to have been short.

[33] In Crépeau c. Yannonie, (1988 R.R.A. 265 to 272), the Court awarded an indemnity of $5,000 in moral damages and an additional amount of $5,000 in exemplary damages because of a peace officer’s disgraceful conduct towards the defendant. See also Cagney c. CUM, (1998 R.R.A. 515 (S.C.); Tomer c. CUM, (500-02-019404-941 (C.Q.); Laflamme c. CUM, 1996 R.R.A. 689 (S.C.); Girard c. CUM, (500-05-013361-926 (S.C.)).

[128] In Coté c. Ville de Longueuil, Christiane Alary J. of the Superior Court identified several judgments also dealing with the quantum of damages in similar cases.


  [translation]

127.

In Michaelson et al. c. Régie intermunicipale de police des Seigneuries, Joël Silcoff J. awarded $10,000 to an individual unlawfully detailed one evening and subsequently acquitted.

128. 
In Québec (Procureur général) c. Allard, the plaintiff was arrested and incarcerated on a Friday afternoon at about 4 p.m. He was detained until Monday morning. He was awarded an amount of $10,000 for wrongful arrest and $25,000 for unlawful and wrongful detention.

129. 
In Leroux c. Communauté urbaine de Montréal, Anne-Marie Trahan J. awarded $5,000 to an individual who was arrested and unlawfully detained. He was awarded an additional amount of $5,000 for prolonged detention. The individual was arrested at about 9 p.m. and released at about 3 a.m., whereas he could have been released much earlier.

[129] In that case, Mr. Côté was arrested at the arena. He was brought to the police station in a patrol car. At the station, he was put in jail and the police officers took his statement. He spent approximately one hour at the station before being released on a promise to appear. The Court, in its discretion, awarded him $4,000 in damages.

[130] In Khoury c. Dupuis, an amount of $5,000 was awarded to the plaintiff for violation of his freedom and dignity as a result of his unlawful arrest and the  deprivation of his liberty for one hour while he was detained in a patrol car.

(Emphasis in original.)
    (Citations omitted.)
[328] In Couillard v. Québec (Procureur général),
 the Court engaged in a similar exercise and established a new guideline of $10,000 in moral damages per day of detention.
[329] The Tribunal has also reviewed decisions rendered by other courts in Canada concluding that police officers in the performance of their duties had committed racial profiling towards citizens. In Johnson
 and Phipps,
 an amount of $10,000 was awarded to the victims to compensate them for their moral damage. The same amount was recently awarded in Briggs v. Durham Regional Police Services.
 In that case, the Human Rights Tribunal of Ontario found that only a part of the police intervention constituted racial profiling.
[330] Taking into account these considerations, the amounts established by the case law and the specific facts of this case, the Tribunal assesses the moral damages sustained by the complainant at $8,000, for which Officers Fournier and Robidoux are solidarily liable.
[331] Because the racial profiling took place in the performance of their duties, the employer will be held solidarily liable for the payment of these damages.

	ISSUE 3:
	Does the conduct of Officers Robidoux and Fournier warrant an order to pay punitive damages?


[332] The Commission seeks an order against each police officer for $2,500 in punitive damages.
[333] The statutory provisions applicable to the resolution of this issue are as follows: 
Section 49 of the Charter
49. Any unlawful interference with any right or freedom recognized by this Charter entitles the victim to obtain the cessation of such interference and compensation for the moral or material prejudice resulting therefrom.
In case of unlawful and intentional interference, the tribunal may, in addition, condemn the person guilty of it to punitive damages.
Article 1621 of the Civil Code of Québec
1621. Where the awarding of punitive damages is provided for by law, the amount of such damages may not exceed what is sufficient to fulfil their preventive purpose.
Punitive damages are assessed in the light of all the appropriate circumstances, in particular the gravity of the debtor's fault, his patrimonial situation, the extent of the reparation for which he is already liable to the creditor and, where such is the case, the fact that the payment of the damages is wholly or partly assumed by a third person.
[334] Punitive damages may be awarded under section 49 only if the infringement of a right or the violation of a freedom recognized or protected by the Charter is unlawful and intentional.

[335] In Quebec (Public Curator) v.  Syndicat national des employés de l’hôpital St‑Ferdinand,
 the Supreme Court defined the notion of unlawful and intentional interference.

[336] With respect to unlawful interference, it stated:
 

[116] To find that there has been unlawful interference, it must be shown that a right protected by the Charter was infringed and that the infringement resulted from wrongful conduct.  A person’s conduct will be characterized as wrongful if, in engaging therein, he or she violated a standard of conduct considered reasonable in the circumstances under the general law or, in the case of certain protected rights, a standard set out in the Charter itself. …
[337] Clearly, for the reasons set out above, the impugned conduct of Officers Fournier and Robidoux constitutes unlawful interference with several standards imposed by the Charter, as the Tribunal has already mentioned.
[338] Subsequently defining intentional interference, the Supreme Court added:

[210] Consequently, there will be unlawful and intentional interference within the meaning of the second paragraph of s. 49 of the Charter when the person who commits the unlawful interference has a state of mind that implies a desire or intent to cause the consequences of his or her wrongful conduct, or when that person acts with full knowledge of the immediate and natural or at least extremely probable consequences that his or her conduct will cause.  This test is not as strict as specific intent, but it does go beyond simple negligence.  Thus, an individual’s recklessness, however wild and foolhardy, as to the consequences of his or her wrongful acts will not in itself satisfy this test.
[339] Section 49 sets out two alternative situations giving rise to the award of punitive damages.

[340] The first refers to an act or omission constituting an unlawful interference by which its author intentionally seeks to cause the resulting consequences.

[341] The second has a lower threshold. It is sufficient to establish that the offender knew the “immediate and natural or at least extremely probable” consequences that his or her conduct would cause. This threshold exceeds negligence and indifference, however, even at the highest level recognized by our law, when reckless and wanton.
[342] In his own words, Officer Fournier usually and systematically questions persons under arrest to find out whether they are in possession of [translation] “drugs or anything illegal” contrary to the teachings of the Supreme Court going back more than twenty years.
[343] The two officers had to have known that this question was unjustified, improper and inappropriate and that it would necessarily have serious consequences for the complainant. 
[344] The same is true in regard to Officer Fournier’s decision to conduct a second search incidental to the complainant’s arrest without legal foundation.
[345] The two officers had to have been aware that it was extremely likely that the complainant, with reason, would feel like the victim of racial profiling as a result of being associated with drug-related criminality and that his fundamental rights had been violated.
[346] What is more, the fact that the question was asked three times only contributed to furthering the consequences that were already very likely as of the first question.
[347] With respect to a young black man, resident of the borough of Montreal-North, during a police intervention that took place solely in application of the H.S.C. and in execution of the warrant for fine collection, without the possibility of even reasonably suspecting that any crime had been committed, the nature of Officer Fournier’s questions fueled the social context of already very tense relations between the police department and the multi-ethnic population, in particular the Caribbean population.
[348] The Tribunal finds that the two officers committed an unlawful and intentional interference that warrants an award of punitive damages.

[349] As for establishing the amount of punitive damages, it is important to recall the guidelines and objectives identified by the Supreme Court in de Montigny v. Brossard (Succession):

[47] … An award of such [punitive] damages aims at expressing special disapproval of a person’s conduct and is tied to the judicial assessment of that conduct, not to the extent of the compensation required for reparation of actual prejudice, whether monetary or not. As Cory J. stated:

  Punitive damages may be awarded in situations where the defendant’s misconduct is so malicious, oppressive and high‑handed that it offends the court’s sense of decency. Punitive damages bear no relation to what the plaintiff should receive by way of compensation. Their aim is not to compensate the plaintiff, but rather to punish the defendant. It is the means by which the jury or judge expresses its outrage at the egregious conduct of the defendant.

…

[49] … An award of exemplary damages seeks to punish a person who commits an unlawful act for doing so intentionally and to deter that person, and members of society generally, from repeating the act by condemning it as an example. …
(Citation omitted.)
[350] Finally, in Richard v. Time Inc.,
 the Supreme Court stated:

[210] Where a court decides to award punitive damages, it must relate the facts of the case before it to the objectives that underlie such damages and ask itself how, in that particular case, awarding them would further those objectives.  It must try to fix the most appropriate amount, that is, the lowest amount that would serve the purpose (Whiten, at para. 71). …
[351] By awarding punitive damages in this case, the Tribunal seeks to express its denunciation by sanctioning the discriminatory conduct by racial profiling of Officers Fournier and Robidoux towards the complainant. The Tribunal also seeks to deter Officers Fournier and Robidoux from repeating such conduct and discouraging the police in general from acting in this way.
[352] In Rezko,
 the Tribunal established the amount of punitive damages to be paid to a victim of discrimination by racial profiling by a police officer at $8,000  [translation] “to punish the perpetrator, deter him from repeating such acts and, at the same time, deter others who would be tempted to act likewise”.

[353] In Elmardy v. Toronto Police Services Board,
 the Ontario Superior of Justice, sitting in appeal, awarded $25,000 to a victim of discrimination by racial profiling by two police officers, in addition to ordering the employer to pay $50,000.

[354] Taking these considerations into account and in light of the particular circumstances of this case, including the respective
 seriousness of their conduct violating the complainant’s rights, in that Officer Fournier initiated the discriminatory conduct while Officer Robidoux knowingly tolerated it, they are ordered to pay the following punitive damages:

· $2,500 by Officer Fournier, i.e., the amount indicated in the originating application;

· $1,500 by Officer Robidoux.
FOR THESE REASONS, THE TRIBUNAL:
[355] GRANTS the application in part;

[356] ORDERS the Ville de Montréal, Officer Jean-Michel Fournier and Officer Martin Robidoux, solidarily, to pay $8,000 to Mr. Davids Mensah in moral damages, with interest at the legal rate and the additional indemnity under art. 1619 of the Civil Code of Québec, as of April 25, 2014, the date of service of the proposal for redress;

[357] ORDERS Officer Jean-Michel Fournier to pay $2,500 to Mr. Davids Mensah in punitive damages with interest at the legal rate and the additional indemnity under art. 1619 of the Civil Code of Québec, as of the date of this judgment;
[358] ORDERS Officer Martin Robidoux to pay $1,500 to Mr. Davids Mensah in punitive damages with interest at the legal rate and the additional indemnity under art. 1619 of the Civil Code of Québec, as of the date of this judgment;
[359] THE WHOLE, with legal costs.
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